FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 14 1995 CLERK, SUDIVISIONE COURT By ______

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Petitioner,

v.

SALLY ROE, et al.,

Respondents.

Case No. 86,061

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAURA RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 613959

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL - PL-01 TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-9935

Attorneys for Petitioner Department of Education

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner Department of Education (DOE) is a defendant in the civil action before the trial court and was petitioner in the certiorari proceeding before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida. Respondents Roes are the plaintiffs in the civil action before the trial court and were Respondents in the certiorari proceeding before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida. Respondents Leon County School Board, Superintendent Merrick, Unknown Employees of the Leon County School Board, former principal Sam Alderman, principal Nancy E. Russell, and inmate Billy Randolph Campbell are defendants in the civil action before the trial court, and were respondents in the certiorari proceeding before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida. Roes' Amended Complaint is included in the Appendix to Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, and is denominated as (Ex. A-).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondents Sally and Ann Roe sued the Department of Education (DOE), Leon County School Board and Superintendent Richard Merrick, elementary school principals Nancy E. Russell and Sam Alderman, and former teacher Billy R. Campbell, alleging that Campbell was a teacher at Ruediger Elementary School who sexually molested Sally Roe during 1988-89 and 1989-90, when she was in fourth and fifth grades, causing permanent physical and psychological injuries. (Ex. A, pp. 1-10) The Roes sued the Leon County School Board in Count I under §768.28, Florida Statutes, for alleged negligent hiring and retention of Campbell. The Roes sued the school board, the unknown (Ex. A, pp. 4-5)defendants, Superintendent Merrick, Alderman and Russell in Count III under 42 U.S.C §1983 for alleged violations of the Roes' federal civil rights. (Ex. A, pp. 7-10) The Roes sued Campbell in Count IV for battery. (Ex. A, p. 10).

As to DOE, Count II of the Amended Complaint alleged as follows:

24. At all material times, the DEPARTMENT was the agency of the state of Florida that issued and renewed certificates of school teachers. The DEPARTMENT was required to determine whether an applicant for issuance or renewal of a teacher's certificate was of good moral character.

25. The DEPARTMENT and the COUNTY acted jointly in determining the qualifications and moral fitness of applicants for teaching DEPARTMENT positions. The undertook to investigate the moral fitness of applicants for issuance or renewal of licenses, and when considering hiring an applicant for a teaching position the COUNTY relied in part upon the most recent determination of moral fitness by the DEPARTMENT.

- 1 -

The COUNTY relied in part upon the 26. DEPARTMENT to check the criminal record of to investigate applicants, reports of misconduct, and to determine whether applicants were morally fit to serve as teachers. The DEPARTMENT undertook to perform these tasks, knowing that county school boards, including the LEON COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD, would rely in part upon the DEPARTMENT in these respects.

27. The DEPARTMENT learned, at least by 1985, of misconduct by defendant CAMPBELL. The DEPARTMENT determined that CAMPBELL should not be allowed to teach and that his teaching certificate should not be renewed at least pending further investigation.

28. Nonetheless, in 1986 the DEPARTMENT negligently renewed CAMPBELL's teaching certificate. The DEPARTMENT did so in violation of its own determination that this absent occur further should not investigation. The DEPARTMENT negligently failed properly to investigate, learn or consider the fact that Campbell had а criminal record, had engaged in acts of sexual abuse of minor children during prior employment, and was otherwise morally unfit to hold a teaching certificate or to be employed at any school.

29. In 1986, the COUNTY, acting cooperatively with the DEPARTMENT, hired CAMPBELL based in part on the negligent renewal of CAMPBELL's teaching certificate earlier that same year by the DEPARTMENT. The COUNTY continued CAMPBELL's employment through the occurrences of sexual abuse at issue in this case based in part upon the negligence of the DEPARTMENT in renewing CAMPBELL's certificate.

DOE moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint on grounds that Roes' claims were barred by sovereign immunity and DOE did not owe a common-law or statutory duty of care to the Roes as to the acts alleged to have been negligently performed. The trial court denied the motion. DOE filed a petition for writ of common-law certiorari in the District Court of Appeal. The district court treated DOE's petition as an interlocutory appeal on authority of <u>Tucker v.</u> <u>Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1995), stating that "[w]e consider this holding applicable to any denial of a claim of absolute or qualified immunity, and not simply those raised in the context of a motion for summary judgment, so long as the issue is a matter of law, as in the case at bar." <u>Department of Education v. Roe</u>, et al., 20 Fla.L.Weekly D686b, D687 (Fla. 1st DCA March 14, 1995).

The district court concluded that the Roes' Amended Complaint failed to allege any duty of care owed to them by DOE with respect to the alleged negligently performed licensing and investigatory acts, noting that DOE under Florida law was not be an employer of teachers, and therefore could not owe a duty of care, along with Leon County School Board, to use reasonable care in the hiring of Campbell. The district court reversed the trial court's order, directing it to dismiss the Amended Complaint against DOE with prejudice.

On rehearing, the district court withdrew its earlier decision and in a brief substituted decision held that the order denying DOE's immunity claim was not subject to interlocutory review because "[w]e are now of the view that we should not construe <u>Tucker</u> as deciding any issue beyond that which was specifically asked in the certified question in that case." <u>Department of Education v. Roe, et al.</u>, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) DOE filed motions for rehearing, rehearing en banc and for certification. The trial court on June 16, 1995 denied the motions.

DOE on July 14, 1995 timely filed a Notice to Invoke this court's discretionary jurisdiction on grounds that the district court's May 12, 1995 decision expressly and directly conflicts with this court's decision in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994). This court on November 7, 1995 accepted jurisdiction and dispensed with oral argument.

- 4 -

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Orders rejecting claims of sovereign immunity meet the requirements for interlocutory review under the rationale set forth by this court in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>. Under Florida law, sovereign immunity is an immunity from suit, not a defense to liability, which is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial. An order determining sovereign immunity is conclusive as to that claim, the claim is separable from, and collateral to, the underlying merits of the tort action, and the claim is not effectively reviewable on direct appeal following final judgment because the immunity from suit, once lost, cannot be recaptured when litigation erroneously proceeds.

The societal and personal costs of erroneously lost immunity in state tort actions are indistinguishable from those in federal civil rights actions. The diversion of official energy from public issues, the deterrence of able citizens from acceptance of public office, and the danger that fear of lawsuit will deter proper performance of public duties are consequences which impact the state in tort actions to no less degree than they impact public officials in federal civil rights actions. When the state is sued in tort, public employees and officials respond to and defend against allegations of negligence. Under Florida law, public officials in federal civil rights actions are no more personally liable than is the state or its employees or officials in state tort actions.

- 5 -

No rationale exists for precluding review of orders determining immunity on a motion to dismiss, when the order turns strictly on an issue of law. The order at issue in this case qualifies for interlocutory review because DOE's claims of sovereign immunity and the absence of any actionable duty of care owed to Roes turn strictly on issues of law which can be determined solely on the undisputed allegations of the Amended Complaint.

II. DOE does not owe a duty of care to other than the public at the performance large in of its statutory licensing and investigatory duties, and its decisions with respect to licensing and investigating teachers are immune from tort liability under the doctrine of sovereign immunity. Leon County School Board's alleged reliance upon DOE to properly perform its licensing and investigatory duties when the Board hired former teacher Campbell does not create any duty of care owed by DOE to Roes because DOE, as a matter of law, cannot be an employer of teachers. If DOE cannot be an employer of teachers, it cannot, as a matter of law, owe any duty of care to Roes for the hiring and retention of former teacher Campbell.

- 6 -

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER AN ORDER REJECTING A CLAIM OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IS SUBJECT TO INTERLOCUTORY REVIEW, WHERE THE ORDER TURNS STRICTLY ON AN ISSUE OF LAW.

In <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994) this court authorized interlocutory review of orders denying claims of qualified immunity in federal civil rights actions brought in state courts, where the order under review turns strictly on an issue of law. The court directed a change in the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure to accommodate such review. DOE has requested the court to consider whether claims of sovereign immunity in state tort actions should be subject to interlocutory review on the same reasoning set forth in <u>Tucker</u>. DOE urges this court to authorize interlocutory review of orders rejecting sovereign immunity claims for the reasons set forth below.

> A. The rationale expressed in <u>Tucker v.</u> <u>Resha</u>, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994) for permitting interlocutory review of orders rejecting public official qualified immunity claims applies equally to orders rejecting state sovereign immunity claims.

Under existing Florida law, orders rejecting claims of sovereign immunity are not among the non-final orders reviewable pursuant to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(C), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. <u>Page v. Ezell</u>, 452 So.2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>State Road Department v. Brill</u>, 171 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964); <u>Florida Department of Highway Safety v. Desmond</u>, 568 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Certiorari review of orders rejecting sovereign immunity claims is precluded where the order rules on a

- 7 -

motion to dismiss. See Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage, 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987). Certiorari review may be obtained to review an order rejecting a sovereign immunity claim asserted by motion for judgment, but the standard of review under summary these circumstances permits the court to consider only whether the order constitutes а clear departure from essential the requirements of the law which causes irreparable harm. Martin-Johnson v. Savage; Caribbean Treasure Salvage v. Sheriff, 474 So.2d 883 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Certiorari relief is seldom granted to quash an interlocutory order. Crocker Construction Co. v. Hornsby, 562 So.2d 842 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

In <u>Tucker</u>, this court adopted as state law the standard of review applicable in federal courts under <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u>, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed. 2d 411 (1985) for review of public official qualified immunity claims. In concluding that qualified immunity claims should be appealable prior to final judgment under a standard of review less stringent than that afforded by certiorari review, this court considered the "nature of the rights involved", stating as follows:

> Under the qualified immunity doctrine, "government officials performing discretionary functions generally are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. [cite omitted] "The central purpose of affording public official qualified immunity from suit is to protect them "from undue interference with their duties and from potentially disabling threats of liability." [cites omitted]

> Consistent with this purpose, the qualified immunity of public officials involves

- 8 -

"immunity from suit rather than a mere defense liability." to [cite omitted] The entitlement "is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial." [cite omitted] Furthermore, an order denying qualified immunity "is effectively unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment" [cite omitted] as the public official cannot be "re-immunized" if erroneously required to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation.

We also note that the defendant official is not the only party who suffers "consequences" from erroneously lost immunity. As the the Supreme Court explained in Harlow, society as a whole also pays the "social costs" of "the expenses of litigation, the diversion of official energy from pressing public issues, and the deterrence of able citizens from acceptance of public office. Finally, there is the danger that fear of being sued will 'dampen the ardor of all but the most resolute, or the most irresponsible [public officials], in the unflinching discharge of their duties.'" [cite omitted] Thus, if orders denying summary judgment based upon claims of qualified immunity are not subject interlocutory review, to the qualified immunity of public officials is illusory and the very policy that animates the decision to afford such immunity is thwarted.

Id., 648 So.2d at 1189-90.

The court in <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u> analyzed the appealability of pretrial orders rejecting qualified immunity claims by reference to the requirements of the collateral order doctrine, stating as follows:

> Although 28 U.S.C §1291 [28 USCS §1291] vests the courts of appeals with jurisdiction over appeals only from "final decisions" of the district courts, "a decision 'final' within the meaning of §1291 does not necessarily mean the last order possible to be made in a case." [cite omitted] Thus, a decision of a district court is appealable if it falls within "that small class which finally determine claims of right separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the action,

too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself to require that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case is adjudicated." <u>Cohen</u> <u>v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Cor.</u>, 357 U.S. [541,546, 93 L.Ed.2d 1528, 69 S.Ct. 1221 (1949)].

A major characteristic of the denial or granting of a claim appealable under Cohen's "collateral order" doctrine is that "unless it can be reviewed before [the proceedings terminate], it never can be reviewed at all." [cites omitted] When a district court has denied a defendant's claim of right not to stand trial, on double jeopardy grounds, for example, we have consistently held that court's decision appealable, for such a right cannot be effectively vindicated after the [cite omitted] trial has occurred. Thus, the denial of a substantial claim of absolute immunity is an order appealable before final judgment, for the essence of absolute immunity is its possessor's entitlement not to have to answer for his conduct in a civil damages action. [cite omitted].

Id., 472 U.S. at 524-525, 86 L.Ed. 2d at 424.

In determining that a claim of gualified immunity, like immunity, should absolute governmental be subject to interlocutory appeal, the Mitchell court first considered whether qualified immunity constituted a legitimate entitlement not to stand trial, and whether an order denying a claim of such immunity effectively was unreviewable on appeal from a final judgment. Concluding qualified immunity that met these requirements, the court proceeded to consider whether an order rejecting a qualified immunity claim was conclusive, and whether such a claim involved a right separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the underlying action. The court concluded that a claim of qualified immunity met these requirements, as well.

Cohen collateral order doctrine On the basis of the requirements, federal courts permit interlocutory review of orders determining a wide variety of immunity claims. Thus, immediate review is permitted not only of orders determining absolute and qualified immunity, Mitchell v. Forsyth, but also Eleventh Amendment state immunity, Puerto Rico Aqueduct and Sewer Authority v. Metcalf 506 U.S. , 121 L.Ed.2d 605, 113 S.Ct. 684 (1993); Schopler v. Bliss, 903 F.2d. 1373 (11th Cir. 1990), prosecutorial and judicial immunity, Harris v. Deveaus, 780 F.2d 911 (11th Cir. 1986); Schrob v. Catterson, 948 F.2d 1402 (3d DCA 1991); foreign sovereign immunity, Segni v. Commercial Office of Spain, 816 F.2d 344 (7th Cir. 1987); Princz v. Federal Republic of Germany, 998 F.2d 1 (C.A.D.C. 1993); Speech and Debate Clause immunity, U.S. v. Rose, 28 F.3d 181 (C.A.D.C. 1994); McSurely v. McClellan, 521 F.2d 1024 (C.A.D.C. 1975), state action doctrine immunity in antitrust cases, Commuter Transp. Systems, Inc. v. 801 1286 Hillsborough Cty. Av. Auth., F.2d (11th Cir. 1986) (purpose of state action doctrine is to avoid needless waste of public time and money), and immunity claims under state and territorial sovereign immunity laws, Marx v. Guam, 866 F.2d 294 (9th Cir. 1989) (interlocutory appeal from denial of motion to dismiss premised on Guam's sovereign immunity law); Napolitano v. Flynn, 949 F.2d 617 (2nd Cir. 1991)(applying state sovereign immunity law in diversity action).

Federal courts have precluded interlocutory review of orders determining immunity when the claim did not entail an entitlement to not stand trial. See Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517,

- 11 -

100 L.Ed. 2d 517, 108 S.Ct. 1945 (1988)(rules pertaining to service and personal jurisdiction are designed to protect against entry of a binding judgment, not to protect against the burdens of trial); Manion v. Evans, 986 F.2d 1036 (6th Cir. 1993) (immunity claim of peer review committee members not subject τo interlocutory review because the Health Care Ouality Improvement Act does not provide immunity from suit); Lauro Lines S.R.L. v. Chasser, 109 S.Ct. 1976 (1989)(forum selection clause in a cruise line ticket asserted entitlement to be sued in a particular forum, not an entitlement to avoid suit).

Interlocutory review of immunity claims has played an important role in federal courts. A survey of 134 published opinions involving civil rights immunity claims in the federal circuit courts in 1987, 1988 and 1989 revealed that only 31 district court orders rejecting immunity claims were affirmed in the appeals courts. The 70 percent reversal rate, five times the ordinary reversal rate for all appeals of final decisions on the merits, has been thought to reflect the uncertainty and continuing evolution of civil rights immunity law, and to underscore the appropriateness of affording interlocutory appeal. Solimine, "Revitalizing Interlocutory Appeals in the Federal Courts, 58 Geo.Wash.L.Rev. 1165,1189-91.

While there have been concerns in the federal courts regarding increased caseloads as a result of interlocutory appeals of orders determining immunity claims, there is evidence to suggest that an increase in interlocutory appeals may decrease the overall federal appellate caseload by expediting and shortening the resolution of trial court cases, encouraging settlement of more cases, and therefore reducing the number of appeals from final judgment. Solimine, 58 Geo.Wash.L.Rev. at 1178.

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