FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 8 100A

CLERK, SUPPLY OUR

Chief Deputy Clerk

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 86,061

SALLY ROE, et al,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SCHOOL BOARD AND MERRICK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GORDON D. CHERR
FLA BAR ID# 0293318
McCONNAUGHHAY, ROLAND,
MAIDA & CHERR, P.A.
101 North Monroe St, Suite 900
P.O. Drawer 229
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 222-8121

C. GRAHAM CAROTHERS
FLA BAR ID#012072
MACFARLANE AUSLEY FERGUSON
& MCMULLEN
227 South Calhoun Street
P.O. Box 391
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-9115

Attorneys for Respondents School Board and Merrick

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

POINT III: Given the present factual development of this lawsuit, it is not possible to conclude, at this juncture, that DOE

is immune from suit. This sovereign immunity issue is fact sensitive and cannot be resolved as a matter of law at this time.

ARGUMENT

Point I

Tucker v. Resha, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994) and the rationale expressed therein does not permit or even relate to interlocutory review of an order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity. An Order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity is not entitled to interlocutory review.

This matter was before the First District Court on DOE's Petition for Writ of Common Law Certiorari, filed in an effort to have the First District reach the issue of whether DOE was sovereignly immune from <u>liability</u>, in view of the specific allegations set forth in Roes' Amended Complaint. It is apparent that if there was error in the trial court's ruling on the issue of the applicability of the doctrine of sovereign immunity, then that was a matter which could be reached on plenary appeal. One essential element of certiorari, irreparable harm, does not occur due to inconvenience or the time and expense incurred litigation. These are insufficient grounds for granting any petition for writ of certiorari. Martin-Johnson v. Savage, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987); Barnett Bank v. Statewide Mortgage Corp., 464 So. 2d 187 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). Certiorari review of the trial court's order denying DOE's motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity, was not available under the limited circumstances set out by this court, for example, in Brooks v. Owens, 97 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1957).

Insofar as reaching the issue by "interlocutory appeal", the denial of a motion to dismiss is <u>not</u> one of the enumerated nonfinal orders set forth in Rule 9.130, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, and which qualify for interlocutory review. In this context, an order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity has not yet been found to be a proper subject of interlocutory appeal in this state. <u>Page v. Ezell</u>, 452 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); <u>State Road Department v. Brill</u>, 171 So. 2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964). Accord, <u>Florida Dept. of Highway Safety v. Desmond</u>, 568 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Despite and contrary to the above historical background, DOE asserts that the rationale set forth by this court in <u>Tucker v. Resha</u> is a sufficient basis for appellate courts to review trial court orders denying motions to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity. DOE misconstrues the thrust of <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>. Moreover, review of the philosophical underpinnings of <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, and the federal cases which <u>Tucker</u> relies upon, most notably <u>Mitchell v. Forsyth</u>, 472 U.S. 511, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1986) and (implicitly) <u>Cohen v. Beneficial Industrial Loan Cor.</u>, 337 U.S. 541, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 93 L.Ed.2d 1258 (1949) fails to support DOE's argument. In fact, analysis of these cases require the conclusion that DOE's arguments are entirely misplaced.

 $^{^{7}}$ But see <u>Department of Transportation v. Wallis</u>, 659 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

The certified question reached and answered by this court in Tucker v. Resha was the following:

"Is a public official asserting qualified immunity as a defense to a federal civil rights claim entitled in the Florida Courts to the same standard of review of denial of her motion for summary judgment as is available in federal court?"

648 So. 2d at 1187. That question was answered in the affirmative.

In the present case, DOE is not seeking interlocutory review of a denial of a motion for summary judgment. DOE is not seeking interlocutory review of a denial of a motion for summary judgment based upon the defense of qualified immunity. DOE does assert that under the "collateral order doctrine" of Cohen v. Beneficial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 93 L.Ed. 1528, it should have the right to obtain interlocutory appeal of an order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity. According to Cohen, the collateral order doctrine allows appeals from "a small class [of orders] which finally determine claims of right separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself to require that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case is adjudicated." Cohen, 337 U.S. 541, 546, 69 S.Ct. 1221, 1225-26, 93 L.Ed. 1528 (1949).

The specific issue raised by DOE in this matter has been reached by other courts. Their consensus is that the nature of orders denying motions to dismiss on the basis of sovereign immunity are so far theoretically removed from orders denying

summary judgment on the basis of qualified immunity (or any other "absolute immunity"), and that interlocutory review of the former is wholly inappropriate.

In Pullman Construction Industries v. United States of America, 23 F.3d 1166 (7th Cir. 1994), the United States raised the identical issue, seeking interlocutory review of a lower court order denying a motion to dismiss based upon the defense of sovereign immunity. The Seventh Circuit recognized that certain "immunities" carry with them the right to interlocutory appeal. These included, for example, the right of a state to not be sued in the courts of another sovereign pursuant to the 11th Amendment or the right of a foreign nation or foreign national to not be sued in courts of the United States under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act (FSIA), 28 USC §§1602-05. The notion that sovereign immunity was a right to be free from <u>suit</u> (as asserted by DOE) was soundly rejected, especially where the sovereign had previously consented to suit in its own court.8 Instead, sovereign immunity is to be regarded as a right to be free from payment of damages based upon a liability:9

⁸See Section 768.28, Florida Statutes. The State of Florida has consented to be sued in its own courts, under the circumstances set out in that statute.

Respondent is aware that extensive citation from opinions is often cumbersome. However, the <u>Pullman</u> court performed an indepth analysis of the issue presently pending before this court and Respondent cannot analyze the issue with any more insight or clarity than the 7th Circuit. The opinion is quoted only sparingly and the opinion should be read in its entirety.

The United States candidly admits that its appeal cannot be sustained under 28 U.S.C. §158(d) as one from a "final decision." Instead, it argues, an opinion denying a motion asserting the sovereign immunity of the United States may be appealed as a collateral order under a series of cases permitting interlocutory appeal when the defendant asserts a "right not to be sued." Descriptions of the United States' sovereign immunity often refer to freedom from suit as well as freedom from an obligation to pay damages. E.g., FDIC <u>v. Meyer</u>, --- U.S. ---, ---- - ---, 114 S.Ct. 996, 1000-02, 127 L.Ed.2d 308 (1994); Minnesota v. United States, 305 U.S. 382, 387, 59 S.Ct. 292, 294, 83 L.Ed. 235 (1939). We know from <u>Puerto Rico Aqueduct & Sewer</u> Authority v. Metcalf & Eddy, Inc., --- U.S. ---, 113 S.Ct. 684, 121 L.Ed.2d 605 (1993), that states may take interlocutory appeals to vindicate their immunity from suit under the eleventh amendment, and ${\tt from}$ <u>Seqni v.</u> Commercial Office of Spain, 816 F.2d 344, 346-47 (7th Cir. 1987), that foreign nations likewise may obtain interlocutory review of decisions denying their claims of immunity from suit. See also <u>Rush-Presbyterian-St.</u> Luke's Medical Center v. Hellenic Republic, 877 F.2d 574, 576 n. 2 (7th Cir. 1989); Foremost-McKesson, Inc. v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 905 F.2d 438, 443 (D.C.Cir. 1990). The United States insists that it deserves no lesser protection.

If this is all so clear, one wonders why, in the entire existence of the United States, the <u>federal government has never before taken an</u> interlocutory appeal to assert sovereign immunity. Our case appears to be the first. States today the United occasionally sought and received permission to take an interlocutory appeal on this question under 28 U.S.C. §1292(b)(2), a puzzling step if the federal government could appeal of right. E.g., South Delta Water Agency v. Department of the Interior, 767 F.2d 531, 535 (9th Cir. 1985). Perhaps the explanation lies in the newfangled nature of the doctrine permitting appeals based on claims of rights to be free from litigation, a doctrine that

acquires its first purchase in Abney v. United <u>States</u>, 431 U.S. 651, 97 S.Ct. 2034, 52 L.Ed.2d 651 (1977). Metcalf & Eddy extends Abney to a governmental body's right to avoid litigation in another sovereign's courts -- an important qualifier, because the United States is no stranger to litigation in its own courts. Congress has consented to litigation in federal courts seeking equitable relief from the United States, see 5 U.S.C. §702; Bowen v. Massachusetts, 487 U.S. 879, 108 S.Ct. 2722, 101 L.Ed.2d 749 (1988); and 11 U.S.C. §106 gives consent in limited circumstances to litigation seeking money. Indeed, the United States Code is riddled with statutes authorizing relief against the United States and its agencies -- the Federal Tort Claims Act, 28 U.S.C. §§2671-80; the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. §§1346(a), 1491(a); the whole jurisdiction of the Court of Federal Claims, 28 U.S.C. §§1491-1509; dozens if not hundreds of sue-and-be-sued clauses; the list can be extended without much effort.

* * * *

Federal sovereign immunity today is nothing but a condensed way to refer to the fact that monetary relief is permissible only to the extent Congress has authorized it, in line with Art. I, §9, cl. 7: "No Money shall be drawn from the Treasury, but in Consequence of Appropriations made by Law". [10] Instead of exposing the United States to suit under the general federal-question jurisdiction of 28 U.S.C. §1331, Congress has elected to be more specific. An elaborate system permitting some monetary claims and limiting or forbidding others does not imply that the United States retains a general "right not to be sued" in

¹⁰Article VII, Section 1(c), Constitution of the State of Florida, is literally identical:

[&]quot;No money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law."

its own courts, for civil litigation in general or taxation in particular.

* * * *

Does the word "immunity" in "sovereign immunity" itself support interlocutory appeal? Surely not, as the Court held in Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517, 108 S.Ct. 1945, 100 L.Ed.2d 517 (1988). Defendant in that case insisted that a treaty immunized him from service of process, and when the district court rejected that argument he immediately appealed. The Court held that the collateral order doctrine did not authorize such an appeal, distinguishing among kinds immunities. Sometimes the word connotes a right not to be tried, which must be vindicated promptly. Sometimes the word means only a right to prevail at trial -- a right to win, indistinguishable from all the other reasons why a party may not have to pay damages. Confusing the two would undermine the final decision requirement.

Since Abney it has been necessary to distinguish between a right not to be sued and a right the vindication of which ends the litigation. United States v. Hollywood Motor Car Co., 458 U.S. 263, 269, 102 S.Ct. 3081, 3084, 73 L.Ed.2d 754 (1982); United States v. MacDonald, 435 U.S. 850, 860 n. 7, 98 S.Ct. 1547, 1552 n. 7, 56 L.Ed.2d 18 (1978). Only an "explicit statutory or constitutional guarantee that trial will not occur" creates the sort of right that supports immediate review. Midland Asphalt Corp. v. United States, 489 U.S. 794, 801, 109 S.Ct. 1494, 1499, 103 L.Ed.2d 879 (1989). See also, e.g., Lauro Lines s.r.l. v. Chasser, 490 U.S. 495, 109 S.Ct. 1976, 104 L.Ed.2d 548 (1989). The eleventh amendment and the FSIA create genuine rights not to be sued in federal court. "The very object and purpose of the 11th Amendment were to prevent the indignity of subjecting a State to the coercive power of judicial tribunals at the instance of private parties." In re Ayers, 123 U.S. 443, 505, 8 S.Ct. 164, 182, 31 L.Ed. 216 (1887). So too with the FSIA, which is designed to promote harmonious international relations by respecting governmental immunities recognized in international law while permitting claims arising out of ordinary commercial activities. See <u>Saudi Arabia v. Nelson</u>, --- U.S. ---, 113 S.Ct. (emphasis added)

Pullman is directly analogous to the present case. The State of Florida has consented to a limited waiver of sovereign immunity by enacting §768.28, Fla.Stat. Surely the state is no stranger to litigation in its own courts. There is nothing in the clear and unambiguous language of §768.28, Fla.Stat., which remotely suggests that sovereign immunity is a right to be free from suit as opposed to a right to prevail at trial. Instead, the sovereign immunity law specifies that such immunity is a right to be free from liability as opposed to a freedom from suit. Section 768.28 states the following:

"(1) In accordance with s. 13, Art X, State Constitution, the state, for itself and for its agencies or subdivisions, hereby waives sovereign immunity for liability for torts, but only to be the extent specified in this act." (emphasis added).

The present issue was again raised and squarely faced in <u>State</u> of Alaska v. United States of America, 64 F.3d 1352 (9th Cir. 1995). In relying upon <u>Pullman</u> and extending its analysis further, the 9th Circuit held that sovereign immunity is not freedom from suit, and the fact that an order denying federal sovereign immunity

¹¹DOE asserts that sovereign immunity claims under Florida law "unquestionably are premised upon a right not to stand trial." (Petitioner's Brief, p. 14) DOE cannot follow this assertion with a single reference to even one Florida appellate decision on point.

imposed a hardship on the federal government of having to prepare for trial did <u>not</u> justify immediate appeal of the order under the collateral order doctrine.

Instead, the Ninth Circuit held that: 12

We hold that, despite the label "immunity," federal sovereign immunity is not best characterized as a "right not to stand trial altogether." The only other case to consider the issue, Pullman Construction, concluded that federal sovereign immunity was more accurately considered a right to prevail at trial, i.e., a defense to payment of damages. 23 F.3d at 1169. Like immunity from service of process (leading to lack of personal jurisdiction), federal sovereign immunity is better viewed as a right not to be subject to a binding judgment. Such a right may be vindicated effectively after trial. See Van Cauwenberghe v. Biard, 486 U.S. 517, 524, 108 S.Ct. 1945, 1950, 100 L.Ed.2d 517 (1988).

* * * *

Federal sovereign immunity does not implicate sovereignty concerns that motivate immediate appeal of orders denying Eleventh Amendment immunity or foreign sovereign immunity. Likewise, <u>denial of federal</u> sovereign immunity need not be reviewed with the same urgency as the denial of official immunity or double jeopardy claims. The interest served by federal sovereign immunity (the United States' freedom from paying damages without Congressional consent) may be served equally well if review follows a final judgment on the merits. Because there is no sufficiently important interest in immediate review, the third prong of the Cohen test is not satisfied, and the order denying federal sovereign immunity is not an immediately appealable collateral order. This result is

¹²Please see footnote 9 which applies with equal force to the opinion rendered in <u>State of Alaska</u> by the 9th Circuit.

confirmed when one considers the relative inefficiency of applying the collateral order doctrine to federal sovereign immunity cases.

* * * *

Because federal sovereign immunity is a defense to liability rather than a right to be free from trial, the benefits of immunity are not lost if review is postponed. The United States argues that this is not the case and that its claim would, in fact, be "effectively unreviewable" at a later point: If this case goes to trial, the United States will have to decide whether to claim or disclaim the lands in question. According to the United States, doing so will moot the argument that the courts lack jurisdiction because the United States has never claimed or disclaimed the lands. The United States claims that the essence of its sovereign immunity is freedom from having to appear in court and take a position, and hence the benefits of immunity will be irretrievably lost if immediate appeal is denied.

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